Which?

Which? Fund Application guidance

Contents

1.0 About Which?	2
2.0 The Which? Fund	3
3.0 Call for applications to improve understanding of consumer harm	4
3.1 Aim of funding	4
3.2 Our 2024/25 funding programmes	5
3.3 Who we will fund	6
3.4 What projects we will fund	7
3.5 What costs we will cover	7
3.6 What level of funding can you apply for?	8
4.0 How we will assess your application	9
4.1 Eligibility criteria	9
4.2 Assessment criteria	9
5.0 Applying for Which? Fund support	11
5.1 Two stage process	11
5.2 Obtaining a Stage 1 (outline) application form	11
5.3 Completing the Stage 1 (outline) application form	11
5.4 Submission of application forms	11
5.5 Review of Stage 1 (outline) applications	12
5.6 Short-listed applicants	12
5.7 Review of Stage 2 (full) applications	12
5.8 Other questions	12
6.0 Completing your Stage 1 (outline) application	13
6.1 Guidance on application form structure and format	13
6.2 Guidance on questions	13
6.3 Accessibility	17

1.0 About Which?

Which? is the UK's consumer champion, a powerful force for good, here to make life simpler, fairer and safer for everyone.

We're the independent consumer voice that provides impartial advice, investigates, holds businesses to account and works with policymakers to make change happen.

We fund our work mainly through member subscriptions. We're not influenced by third parties – we never take advertising and we buy all the products that we test.

Which? is a not-for-profit organisation wholly owned by the Consumers' Association (registered charity no. 296072).

<u>Further information about the Consumers' Association, and our charitable objects, can be found here.</u>

Grants will be made by the Consumers' Association.

2.0 The Which? Fund

Consumer harm takes many and varied forms, and is often difficult to spot.

Which? wants to make sure that the voices of all consumers are heard, and that action is taken to tackle consumer harms. We understand that, in some cases, other organisations who work more closely with specific communities, or who have specialist technical skills, will be better placed to complete this work, and would benefit from our support to do so.

This is why we set up the Which? Fund. We're excited by this opportunity to improve our understanding of, and address, consumer harm.

The Which? Fund offers restricted grant funding to allow UK charities, universities and not-for-profit Community Interest Companies to undertake new research exploring the consumer harms faced by diverse and disadvantaged communities, or identifying and testing innovative solutions to these issues.

Limited funding is available in each round and we are usually oversubscribed, so a rigorous competitive process is in place to identify the proposals likely to have the greatest benefit for consumers.

We aim to work collaboratively with those we fund, and would be happy to discuss opportunities for partnership beyond the initial provision of funding. Examples of our support to previous grantholders include facilitating introductions to stakeholders, providing expert review of research methodologies, acting as a critical friend and hosting events.

3.0 Call for applications to improve understanding of consumer harm

3.1 Aim of funding

The Which? Fund offers grants to support work aiming to:

- Improve understanding of consumer harms affecting diverse and disadvantaged communities, including novel harms in digital markets.
- Identify and test evidence-led, pragmatic solutions to consumer harm.
- Develop partnerships and encourage collaborative working to provide a more powerful voice for all UK consumers.

We want to support high quality, high impact research and analysis, which provides new insight into markets and finds opportunities to make life for consumers:

- **Simpler** by identifying where complexity is hindering consumers' abilities to make informed decisions;
- **Fairer** by working out where firms may be taking unfair advantage of information asymmetries or other forms of market power (for example to charge consumers more than a fair price), or where consumers are denied redress when things go wrong; and
- **Safer** by spotting where criminality or poor standards put consumers in danger: physically, emotionally, or financially.

This research should build on what is already known, bringing new evidence or identifying and testing innovative solutions. We want to achieve systemic change, so **insight must be targeted to audiences with the power to make a difference** and be communicated in a compelling way. We are keen to support organisations using innovative methodologies to uncover consumer harm.

3.2 Our 2024/25 funding programmes

Consumer harm is experienced in a very wide range of markets, and we are seeking applicants' ideas on the most pressing problems facing diverse and disadvantaged communities. This year, we have two funding calls.

a) Projects exploring consumer harms experienced by diverse and disadvantaged communities.

In some circumstances, certain groups of consumers – for example, women, people living with disabilities or health conditions, low-income households or members of diverse ethnic communities – might be exposed to more harm than other groups, or experience different harms. To maximise the synergies between this initiative and our own work – and thus the impact – applications should also align with one of Which?'s Impact themes, described below:

1. ENSURING FAIR FINANCIAL SERVICES

We want to make sure that consumers are able to find financial products that work for them, are treated fairly and get good value for money.

2. FIGHTING CONSUMER RIP-OFFS

From overcharging and selling shoddy or unsafe products to providing unacceptable customer service and complaint resolution, we want to make sure businesses play fair and are held to account when they let consumers down.

3. ENABLING CONSUMERS TO MAKE SUSTAINABLE CHOICES

We want to support consumers by making the shift towards sustainable consumption more affordable and easier for all and ensuring that consumers who want to make changes get the support they need to do so.

4. ENSURING FAIR AND SAFE DIGITAL GOODS AND SERVICES

We want to make sure that businesses and the government do what they can to enable consumers to participate safely and fairly in our increasingly digital world, with confidence that their information is being kept safe from misuse or fraud.

b) Projects exploring consumer harms experienced by diverse and disadvantaged communities in digital markets

Information asymmetries, malign online choice architecture, automated decision-making, Al interfaces, dynamic pricing and other characteristics of digital markets can place consumers at a distinct disadvantage, and some groups may face greater detriment than

others. Consumers may face financial harm when they pay over the odds for goods and services, physical harm when they buy unsafe products online, or psychological harm when businesses use their data in ways they are not comfortable with. Examples could include online choice architecture designed to manipulate consumer behaviour which has a greater impact on some groups, algorithmic systems which create biased outcomes which disadvantage certain groups, inaccessible customer service chatbots or sensitive personal data being collected excessively or used inappropriately.

3.3 Who we will fund

We will fund registered charities based in the UK, whose charitable objectives align with those of the <u>Consumers' Association</u>. UK universities, as exempt charities, are also eligible to apply. We will also consider applications for funding from not-for-profit Community Interest Companies (CICs) registered in the UK.

Charities and CICs must have key principles of good governance in place, detailed below, to be eligible for funding.

If your organisation is a UK registered charity, it must:

- have a Board of at least five independent trustees or directors.
- have its own bank account.
- have at least one set of annual accounts published on the Charity Commission website, covering a 12 month operating period.
- not have significant unrestricted reserves (e.g. in excess of 12 months of normal operating costs).
- not be in serious financial deficit or have recently reported a serious incident to the Charity Commission.

If your organisation is a Community Interest Company (CIC), it must have:

- a not-for-profit clause in your company articles;
- an asset-lock in place; and
- at least three independent non-executive directors.

CICs may be incorporated as a private company limited by guarantee or a private company limited by shares under Schedule 2 of the Companies Act.

We welcome applications that involve partnerships between organisations, which can bring an exciting mix of skills and unlock new opportunities. In these cases, a lead organisation which meets our eligibility criteria should be identified, and relationships and division of labour between the parties clearly set out in your application.

We will not support individuals, unregistered charities or for-profit organisations.

Organisations which do not meet the above criteria will not be shortlisted – please don't waste your time applying as we are unable to make exceptions.

3.4 What projects we will fund

We will fund specific, strategic projects, with the potential to benefit large numbers of people by changing policy, regulation or practice at scale.

This could include research aiming to increase understanding of consumer harm or to identify, test or evaluate solutions to such harm, or advocacy work to drive the adoption of evidence-based solutions at scale.

We will not fund projects providing direct support to individuals, for example existing community projects.

The only case in which we will consider funding direct service provision is where this is being rigorously tested and evaluated, with a view to developing evidence of effectiveness which could lead to wider change in policy or practice and benefit larger numbers of people.

3.5 What costs we will cover

We are only able to fund costs which are directly attributable to work furthering the Consumer Associations' charitable purposes.

For charities, we are happy to cover staff salaries and a reasonable amount of core costs/ overheads, in proportion to the size of the project. Staff costs should be completed for each member of staff employed on the project to be funded. Where staff costs are sought, the budget should show the number of days, daily rates and the annual salary from which this derives. Non-salary costs and overheads should be specified separately, and applicants should be fully transparent about how costs have been calculated. Capital costs for equipment will only be funded where specifically required to complete a project. We will not normally fund overseas travel. The Consumers Association reserves the right not to fund overhead costs where they cannot be reasonably justified or we are not satisfied with the applicant's explanation.

For UK higher education institutions (HEIs) and not-for-profit Community Interest Companies, we will fund all direct costs related to the management and delivery of the project, but we will not pay indirect costs. This means we will cover the costs explicitly identifiable as arising from the project, charged on the basis of the amount spent, through auditable accounts, including the costs for the time staff spend directly on the project, and a share of the directly allocated costs required to complete a project, but not solely relating to it, based on estimated shared use. We will not fund indirect costs which cannot be directly allocated to the project and would be incurred irrespective of the project, for example estates costs and central services.

It is the responsibility of the organisation applying for funding to identify whether this would attract VAT, and to include it in the proposal if necessary.

8

NOTE: In stage 1 (outline) applications, only an estimated total of costs is required. A full breakdown of costing information will be sought in the Stage 2 (full) application form.

3.6 What level of funding can you apply for?

There is a total of £75,000 of funding available in 2024/25. We anticipate that we will fund a small number of high-quality projects, although there is no maximum or minimum limit on the funds that can be applied for from the available fund. You are advised to cost your project based on what you need.

We envisage that projects will take up to 12 months to complete. An organisation can only submit one application for funding per funding round. Organisations which have received grant funding from the Consumers' Association in the last 12 months are not eligible to apply.

4.0 How we will assess your application

4.1 Eligibility criteria

The Which? Fund is **unable** to support applications where:

- 1. The application is not from a registered charity, not-for-profit Community Interest Company, or university based in the UK.
- 2. The organisation applying does not meet the criteria set out in section 3.3 of this document.
- 3. The proposed research does not address the issues set out in this guidance.
- 4. Work has already been completed.

Please check these criteria carefully, and do not apply if your organisation does not meet them; no exceptions will be made and we hate for your time to be wasted.

4.2 Assessment criteria

We anticipate that we will receive more applications that pass our eligibility checks than we have available funds to support. Applications will thus be assessed against the five criteria below to enable us to shortlist them for funding.

NOTE: Assessment will also be made of applicants' ability to concisely and clearly summarise their proposed research within suggested word limits.

1. Generating rigorous new insight into consumer harm or ways to tackle it

The work will improve understanding of consumer harm, or identify or test new ways to tackle it, using rigorous methodology. The application demonstrates a good understanding of consumer harm, and of the existing evidence in their area of interest, allowing them to identify an opportunity to make a novel contribution.

2. Clearly engaging with our funding calls

For funding programme a), Consumer harms experienced by diverse and disadvantaged communities: Actively engaging with diverse, minority or disadvantaged groups of consumers

A core aim of this work is to address consumer harm experienced specifically or more dramatically by minority or disadvantaged communities. The strongest proposals will demonstrate understanding of the groups they seek to work with, and proactively engage with these communities in the exploration of harm, or the development of solutions.

For funding programme b), Consumer harms experienced by diverse and disadvantaged communities in digital markets: Strong understanding of digital markets and relevant technologies

Harms in digital markets may be difficult for individuals to identify, and it may be challenging to understand where diverse and disadvantaged consumer groups are experiencing disproportionate detriment. Applications should demonstrate a strong understanding of digital markets and relevant technologies, and explain in nontechnical language how data to identify potential consumer harm in digital markets will be collected and analysed.

3. Strategic value

The work has potential to drive systemic change in policy, regulation or practice. The application demonstrates an understanding of potential routes to change, including identifying stakeholders and decision makers who need to be influenced, and shows a careful consideration of how findings will be communicated to make maximum impact for consumers.

4. Delivery ability

Applicants must demonstrate that they have the skills, knowledge and capacity to successfully undertake the project. Plans should have appropriate milestones, adequate project governance and a clear understanding of project risks and plans to manage these. Applications should also outline how they will engage with other experts and stakeholders to maximise the value of their work.

5. Value for money

Costings are clear and proportionate to the work and outputs proposed.

5.0 Applying for Which? Fund support

5.1 Two stage process

We appreciate the time and effort taken to complete a full application form for funding. Like many other funding bodies, we have elected to use a two-stage application process to enable applicants to submit the minimum information needed for us to assess whether an application is suitable for the Which? Fund.

Timings for the two stages are as follows:

Which? Fund application timeline 2024/25

Stage	Time to complete application	Time to decision
Stage 1 (outline) application	13 weeks Launch: Monday 17 June 2024 Deadline: 5pm Monday 16 September 2024	Within approximately 6 weeks
Stage 2 (full) application	8 weeks Launch: Week commencing Monday 21 October 2024	Within approximately 10 weeks

Timelines for Stage 2 may be subject to change, and applicants will be kept informed.

5.2 Obtaining a Stage 1 (outline) application form

Organisations wishing to apply should email Raveene-Jonelle Dompreh at funding@which.co.uk to obtain a copy of the stage 1 (outline) application form. If you are short-listed to stage 2, you will automatically be sent a full application form by email.

5.3 Completing the Stage 1 (outline) application form

Guidance notes are provided in the application form in italics, and may be deleted from your finalised proposal before submission. Additional information to help you complete the Stage 1 (outline) application form is included in section 6.0, below. If you have any other questions not covered here, please direct them to Raveene-Jonelle Dompreh at funding@which.co.uk.

5.4 Submission of application forms

Completed application forms should be submitted by email to Raveene-Jonelle Dompreh at funding@which.co.uk by the stated deadlines. Applications received after these deadlines will not be considered.

5.5 Review of Stage 1 (outline) applications

Stage 1 (outline) applications will be assessed using the criteria outlined in section 4.0, above.

All applicants will be provided with feedback on their stage 1 application, and we expect to reach a decision on which applications will proceed to the second stage within approximately six weeks.

It is possible that we may contact you during this review period to ask for additional information, but we ask that you please do not contact us, to help us focus our resources on processing applications as quickly as possible.

5.6 Short-listed applicants

Applicants who are successful in the initial sift will be invited to submit a full application, with a Stage 2 (full) application form provided to you by email.

You will be asked to provide additional details on methodology, existing related research and proposed outputs. The full application should build on your initial submission, but you will have an opportunity to make changes in response to our feedback. Submission of your completed full application should follow the guidance set out in section 5.4, above.

5.7 Review of Stage 2 (full) applications

Stage 2 (full) applications will be assessed using the criteria outlined in section 4.0, above.

Applications that proceed to the second stage of the process should expect a decision within approximately 10 weeks of submission of their stage 2 application.

Once again, it is possible that we may contact you during the review period to ask for additional information, but we ask that you please do not contact us, to help us focus our resources on processing applications as quickly as possible.

5.8 Other questions

If you have any questions after reading this document, please check our <u>Frequently Asked Questions online</u>. If your question is not answered there, please email Raveene-Jonelle Dompreh at <u>funding@which.co.uk</u>. Please note that we are unable to answer specific questions about proposed projects in advance of the submission of Stage 1 (outline) application.

6.0 Completing your Stage 1 (outline) application

It is important that your Stage 1 (outline) application provides a clear, concise and compelling summary of your proposed project. It must stand alone to make your case for support from the Which? Fund.

Your application will be assessed against the criteria provided in section 4.0. Please ensure that you clearly address the eligibility criteria, as applications that fail to do so will be excluded from consideration for funding.

6.1 Guidance on application form structure and format

- Please complete the form in Arial font, size 11.
- Use single line spacing with standard margins (2.54cm)
- Section 1 of your application ('About your organisation') has no word limit, but must not include information that belongs in Section 2 ('About your project').
- Section 2 of your application ('About your project') contains word limits as guides. We've purposefully provided guidelines for length, not strict word counts, to save you spending hours agonising over a couple of additional words or an extra line taking you onto another page. In return, we'd ask that you pay attention to our guidelines, and keep your application brief. Applications which are clearly much longer than we'd expect given our suggested word counts won't be reviewed, to make sure we have enough time to give everyone else a fair chance. We don't need you to include your word count in your application form.
- Your application should be structured so that it is easy to follow and understand.
- Keep the use of acronyms to a minimum and only use acronyms where a term is used frequently throughout the application (and is defined on first usage).
- You may embed tables, graphs and schematics/timelines in your proposal, but when doing so please bear in mind the need for brevity.
- Please do not include pictures, logos, CVs or bibliographies. You may include one single sided A4 page listing any references used throughout your application at the end of the form.
- Submit in MS Word format

6.2 Guidance on questions

Guidance for some questions is provided on the form itself, but is expanded upon here. You may delete guidance notes in italics from your completed application form.

Section 1: About your organisation

As this section of the application form will be populated with personal data, it will be stored separately to Section 2. Please see Which?'s <u>privacy policy</u> for further details on how your data will be stored and processed.

1. Organisation name

This should relate to the lead organisation (which will administer any award) if more than one organisation is involved in the delivery of this research.

2. Organisation address

This should relate to the lead organisation (which will administer any award) if more than one organisation is involved in the delivery of this research.

3. Applicant names, job titles and contact details

Please provide the name, job title and email address for the Lead Applicant and any co-applicants below, including details for the Lead Applicant first. If co-applicants are drawn from other organisations, please also provide the name of their organisation in the job title column. Please provide a single sentence summary of each person's role in the project. It is recommended that the contact details of an administrative contact are provided in case we experience any difficulties reaching the Lead Applicant for additional information.

4. Organisation's legal status

Please note that in order to be eligible for funding, the organisation that would be administering any award must be a UK-registered charity, a UK university that has exempt charitable status or a UK not-for-profit Community Interest Company. Select the option that applies to your organisation.

5. Number of trustees / directors

Please state the total number of trustees/directors on the governing board of the organisation that would be administering any award, and indicate how many are non-executive.

Please note that charities are expected to have at least five independent directors or trustees to be eligible for funding, and that Community Interest Companies (CICs) should have at least three independent non-executive directors.

6. Link to most recent published accounts

Please provide an electronic link to the most recently published accounts of the organisation that would be administering any award. If this isn't possible, please submit this document at the same time as your application.

- **7.** If a charity, please provide your charitable objects and registered charity no. Please note that for a charity to be eligible for funding as the lead organisation, it must be registered.
- 8. If a not-for-profit Community Interest Company, please provide your company number and your community interest statement.

9. Are you happy to be contacted about future funding opportunities?

If you would like to receive email notification of any future Which? Fund competitions, please select 'yes'. See our <u>privacy policy</u> for further details on how your data will be stored and processed.

Section 2: About your project

You may submit one *single-sided* A4 page listing any references used throughout your application.

1. Project title

The project title should state clearly and concisely the proposed project. Please spell out any abbreviations in full.

- 2. Which funding programme are you applying to?
 - a. Consumer harms experienced by diverse and disadvantaged communities
 - b. Consumers harms experienced by diverse and disadvantaged communities in digital markets

Please select one option.

2.i. For applications under programme a): Which? Impact area this project aligns to Descriptions of the four key Which? impact areas can be found in section 3.2 of this guidance. Please review these and select the one your proposal aligns to most closely. If your research aligns to more than one area, select the one that you feel most clearly describes it.

3. What are the aims of this project?

Please explain the key questions your project will seek to address, what outcomes you expect to achieve and the anticipated impact. We suggest you aim for c.100 words.

4. Why is this project needed now?

Please explain the existing need for this project. Where are the gaps in existing evidence? Where have you looked for evidence? Have you consulted with stakeholders? We suggest you aim for c.100 words.

5. Plain English summary of the proposed project

A range of reviewers with varying levels of subject matter expertise will use this summary to inform their review of your funding application, so please ensure that this explanation of your planned research is clear and aimed at a non-specialist audience. Your explanation should include your proposed methodology, anticipated outputs and dissemination plans. This section should not exceed one page of A4 in length, c.500 words.

6. This question varies according to the funding programme you are applying to. Please delete the question which is not relevant to your application.

For applications to programme a) Consumer harms experienced by diverse and disadvantaged communities:

How do you plan to engage with diverse or disadvantaged consumer groups? The Which? Fund specifically seeks to support projects which will explore the harm experienced by diverse and disadvantaged consumer groups. Please outline which groups

your project will engage with and how you plan to go about this. We suggest you aim for c.100 words.

For applications to programme b) Consumers harms experienced by diverse and disadvantaged communities in digital markets

How will you explore the harm facing diverse and disadvantaged communities in digital markets?

The Which? Fund specifically seeks to uncover and address novel forms of consumer harm in digital markets, which may be difficult to identify. Please explain what tools and techniques you will use to identify novel consumer harms affecting diverse and disadvantaged communities online, in nontechnical language. We suggest you aim for c.100 words.

7. How will you ensure your project has practical impact?

Your project must have the potential to drive systemic change for consumers. Please set out your understanding of the audiences and key stakeholders for the outputs of your project, how you will engage them, and how your work can be used to reduce consumer harm. Aim for c.150 words.

8. Your ability to carry out this project successfully

Please provide a brief summary of your lead organisation's/project team's experience, knowledge, skills and capacity to undertake this project. This could speak to track record and recent achievements, including the difference your work has made. If there are plans to subcontract any elements of the project, please identify other organisations that may be involved (other than co-applicants) and the nature of their involvement. Aim for c.250 words.

9. Proposed start date

Please indicate in which month you intend to start working on the project. Be realistic about your possible start date, taking into account that decisions on funding will not be made until late February 2025, and that time will be needed to finalise grant agreements. You should also allow for any staff recruitment or ethical approval required before starting your project.

10. Project duration

Please include sufficient time to complete all parts of your project including writing any reports and dissemination activities. We anticipate that projects will complete within 12 months in most cases.

11. Estimated cost

We will ask for a full breakdown of costs in the Stage 2 (full) application form if your Stage 1 (outline) application is shortlisted. At this stage, please provide the total amount of funding you are requesting to complete this project. Refer to sections 3.5 and 3.6 on available funding, costs we will cover, and VAT. If the project is dependent on funding from other sources then you should indicate how much other funding is required, where you intend to source it from, and whether this has already been obtained.

12. Conflicts of interest

Please declare any conflicts or potential conflicts of interest that you or your organisation may have in undertaking this project, including any relevant personal, non-personal and commercial interests that could be perceived as a conflict of interest or introducing bias to the application process. Please also declare any conflict or potential conflict of interest with the Which? Group.

6.3 Accessibility

At Which? we want to make life simpler, fairer and safer for everyone, regardless of their age, gender identity, disability, marriage or civil partnership, pregnancy or maternity, religion or belief, race or ethnic origin, sex, sexual orientation, transgender status, social economic background, etc. We value diversity and are actively seeking to engage with diverse and disadvantaged communities to help us to understand and create a positive impact for all consumers.

We are committed to making the application process for the Which? Fund accessible. Please reach out to Raveene-Jonelle Dompreh, at funding@which.co.uk if you need any support to access this application process.



Which? 2 Marylebone Road, London NW1 4DF
Which? 3 Capital Quarter, Tyndall Street, Cardiff CF10 4BZ
Phone +44 (0)20 7770 7000
Fax +44 (0)20 7770 7600
www.which.co.uk